
Date Published:14 May 2019     

Environment Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 22 May 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Chair

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 
2019. 

Chair

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

4  MOTION 828: MAKING GLOUCESTERSHIRE'S COUNTRYSIDE 
SAFE AND ACCESSIBLE (Pages 7 - 10)

RESOLVED that this Council notes the exceptional countryside in 
Gloucestershire and the significant economic and cultural benefits 
that this already gives to businesses and residents within the 
county. 

However, this Council recognises that the county’s countryside 
could be made safer and more accessible for people, including 
walkers, those with limited physical movement and equine users. 

This Council also recognises that relatively small infrastructure 

Cllr Colin Hay;

Simon Excell



    

changes could further cement the county’s position as a tourist 
destination of choice for country pursuits. Such improvements could 
include, but are not limited to:

1. Safe connections between walking routes and bridlepaths
2. Gates on walking paths and bridleways that are more 

accessible for all users and easier to open on a horse
3. Well-drained surfaces in gateways 
4. Parking facilities on popular routes 

This Council resolves to send this matter to the Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee, for consideration on how the 
Council and the Local Enterprise Partnership can work with the 
tourist industry to turn Gloucestershire into an centre of excellence 
for walkers and equine users, helping businesses develop new and 
innovative practices.

5  BIODIVERSITY TASK GROUP UPDATE (Pages 11 - 22)

The Committee to receive a verbal update on the Biodiversity Task 
Group from Chair of the group Cllr Rachel Smith.

Cllr Rachel 
Smith

6  DIRECTOR'S REPORT, COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE 
(Pages 23 - 46)

Colin Chick, Strategic Adviser (Communities & Infrastructure) to 
update the Committee on current issues.

Colin Chick

7  WORK PLAN (Pages 47 - 48)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. (Work plan attached).

Chair

8  FUTURE MEETINGS 

17 July 2019
18 September 2019
26 November 2019

Chair

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/e-mail: Sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee held 
on Wednesday 6 March 2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Robert Bird 
(Chairman)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell

Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Sajid Patel

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Keith Rippington, Eva Ward and Stephen Hirst, 
Cabinet Member Nigel Moor and Jon McGinty.

Cllr Rachel Smith substituted for Cllr Eva Ward.

The Chairman took this opportunity to welcome Wayne Bowcock, the new Chief 
Fire Officer at Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS). 

He also paid thanks for the hard work of Scott Tompkins, Highways Lead 
Commissioner, who is due to leave Gloucestershire County Council (GCC).

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2019 were approved and signed by 
the Chair.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

4. GLOUCESTERSHIRE EMERGENCY SERVICES COLLABORATION BOARD 

4.1 Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Office (CFO) of GFRS gave a brief overview of 
the report which provided an update on collaboration projects in progress. 
The Committee were informed there is a lot of collaboration taking place and 
that there is an increasing level of willingness to engage from all parties. 

4.2 However, it was also stressed that there are still some areas that pose a 
challenge to the board, primarily due to the availability of technical solutions 
and thus a soft approach has seen the best outcomes so far.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

4.3 Members heard that GFRS remain completely open to collaborating, where 
possible, and keep watch for any new ideas on potential collaboration from 
other services around the country.

4.4 A member wondered whether other partners of the collaboration board were 
as willing to collaborate as GFRS. It was reiterated that each project has to 
be taken on a case by case basis. The methods of operation are very 
different between all the emergency services, and sometimes even if there is 
willingness on all sides, practically it is not workable. All parties are 
interested in achieving efficiencies, where possible, in the interest of the 
public.

4.5 The Committee were advised that there may be scope to make savings 
through joint purchasing of equipment. GFRS already use the same 
framework that exists for Police and Ambulance service purchasing but this 
can be limited due to budgetary restraints. In addition, highways officers 
advised that they are looking into future procurement of highways vehicles 
with GFRS, as well as the ITU bus fleet using GFRS workshops. Members 
noted the positive examples of collaboration across the board, not just within 
the emergency services.

4.6 Members queried the report which made reference to Kent and South Wales 
using joint Police and Fire control rooms, due to points made earlier about 
the lack of technical solutions. The CFO confirmed that this simply meant 
they occupy the same room but still operate on different software systems.

4.7 A member questioned how much involvement the Police had with SkillZONE. 
It was explained that the initial idea was to create a public safety information 
hub and this is currently completely funded by GFRS. In the future, the 
Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking & Libraries suggested that 
the service needed to review the way in which SkillZONE can meet the 
needs of the communities, for example, safety for an ageing population. This 
would therefore lead to more collaboration opportunities in the future.

4.8 A discussion followed on how schools are funded to visit the SkillZONE. 
Members were aware that GCC used to support schools by funding their 
transport to and from and were keen to understand whether the withdrawal 
of this funding has had an impact on schools visiting the centres. Members 
felt it would be useful to receive a report on previous funding, the effects of 
its withdrawal, the success so far and vision for the future of SkillZONE. It 
was agreed that this would be added into the CFO report for May.

ACTION: WAYNE BOWCOCK

4.9 The Committee requested going forward that the CFO also includes regular 
updates on the collaboration board projects and that any issues are 
highlighted.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

ACTION: WAYNE BOWCOCK

5. MOTION 828: MAKING GLOUCESTERSHIRE'S COUNTRYSIDE SAFE AND 
ACCESSIBLE 

As the original proposer of this motion was unable to attend the Committee 
meeting, it was decided that this item be postponed until the next meeting in May 
2019.

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT, COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE 

6.1 Colin Chick, Strategic Adviser (Communities & Infrastructure), updated the 
Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

 Ringway and Atkins are mobilised ready to take on the delivery of 
highways services from 1st April 2019;

 Cabinet are being asked to consider the matter of increased costs of re-
tendering public transport services;

 GCC officers continue to be engaged with the A417 Missing Link project 
and are expecting an announcement on the ‘Preferred Route’ spring 
2019;

 Cheltenham Borough Council has supported the requested trial extension 
at Boots Corner, including further mitigation measures to be installed. 
These additional measures will be introduced in April/May for a further 6 
months; and

 The potential affect on the Horton Road Crossing if additional rails 
services are run into Gloucester Station. It was reinforced to members 
the importance of improving rail access in Gloucester for economic 
growth of the county.

6.2 Members discussed the Horton Road Crossing at length. Serious concerns 
were raised regarding congestion/delays in an already busy area, if there 
was an increase in trains through Gloucester station. Members 
acknowledged the crossing is used a lot for the nearby hospital and schools, 
not only by car but walking and cycling as well.

6.3 Responding to comments on an alternative resolution for the crossing, 
officers stressed that any new bridge for pedestrian/cycle use at this location 
would be difficult both in terms of design and finances. 

6.4 It was also queried the level of investigations that had taken place into the 
impacts on the crossing. Members were advised that GCC had to initially 
respond very quickly to Network Rails proposal and therefore only 
introductory investigations had been done. It was assured going forward, 
once the situation is clearer from Network Rail, there would be a proper 
consultation and members would be fully engaged.

6.5 Members requested a written summary of the future timings for the Metro-
West phase 2 project.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

ACTION: SIMON EXCELL

6.6 A member expressed concern that slipping recycling targets, coupled with 
forthcoming decisions on food waste collection and third party recycling 
credits, appears to be leading to a reduced focus on recycling in the County. 
Officers advised that once the mentioned decisions came into effect, they 
would be monitoring recycling rates very closely to make sure there wasn’t a 
negative impact.

6.7 For the food waste collection decision, the Committee were advised that all 
but the two named districts currently receive £100,000 worth of waste credits 
per year. The forthcoming decision is therefore to simply make this deal fair 
and bring Stroud and the Cotswolds onto the same tariff. Members noted 
that recycling has continued to increase in other districts, regardless of the 
£100,000 cap.

6.8 Cllr Smith requested figures on how the third party recycling credits are paid 
to organisations.

ACTION: COLIN CHICK

6.9 A query was raised as to whether the Traffic Regulation Order on parking 
outside the new bus station had ‘gone live’. Officers advised they would seek 
an update on this.

ACTION: SCOTT TOMPKINS

6.10 There was a request for regular updates on the Chepstow Bypass are added 
to this report going forward. Officers noted this request and also advised that 
the Bypass has been added to the Sub-National Transport Board list of 
schemes and thus is now able to compete for funding in the future.

ACTION: COLIN CHICK

6.11 On a final note, members were advised that the works at Metz Way are now 
complete and only snagging works remain.

7. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

7.1 Wayne Bowcock, CFO, gave a brief summary of the fire services update 
report – noting particularly the following points:

 The service are still awaiting finalised dates for the full HMICFRS 
Inspection but understand it is intended for w/c 8th April 2019 and w/c 3rd 
June 2019, with feedback due w/c 10th June 2019. The new CFO 
expressed how well Gloucestershire service has been prepared for this 
Inspection.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 The opening up of new collaboration opportunities in the future when the 
simulation suite in Cirencester is completed, this has been a positive 
story for GFRS during its development.

 The need for recruitment within whole-time fire fighters which is projected 
to run short towards the end of the year. The CFO advised the service 
will be offering fixed term contracts to retained fire fighters to help 
manage the whole-time vacancy as well as provide good experience for 
the employees.

 The better reach the new website and social media pages for trading 
standards will have, as well as the recent successful prosecutions.

7.2 A member raised concerns over the possibility of an ‘experience gap’ within 
the service due to a recent need for increased recruitment. The Committee 
was assured that, in the short-term, the service is making sure the quantity 
and quality of training is increased to replace the lack of operational 
exposure. 

7.3 Whilst in the longer term, the service will look to use Gloucestershire as a 
unique selling point to live and work, marketing GCC as a good employer of 
choice and keeping an eye on procedures for relocating staff. A member 
highlighted that the Fire Cadets are a potential source of experienced future 
firefighters and a key pathway into the service.

7.4 On questioning, members noted that the Council are currently producing a 
final response to the Police and Crime Commissioner submitting his bid to 
take on governance of GFRS to the Home Secretary.

7.5 With regards to trading standards and recent national trends, there was a 
discussion about using the test purchase programme with age on buying 
knives. The CFO advised he will feedback as to whether the police have 
deployed this in Gloucestershire.

ACTION: WAYNE BOWCOCK

8. WORK PLAN 

8.1 Members agreed for the postponed item (5) from today’s meeting to be 
scheduled for the next meeting on 22 May 2019.

8.2 There was a request for the following topics to be added to the work plan as 
future items: 
 Climate change reduction pledge;
 The increase costs of re-tendering public transport services; and
 An update on Ringway’s mobilisation 6 months in.

8.3 The Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries agreed to 
keep the Committee updated, when required, following the Police & Crime 
Commissioner submitting a business case to the Home Secretary for taking 
on governance of GFRS.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

8.4 Members to receive a verbal update from lead members of the GFRS and 
Biodiversity Task Groups at the next Committee meeting in May 2019.

8.5 The CFO advised he would be able to give an update on the HMICFRS 
Inspection for the July 2019 meeting.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12:45

Page 6



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: MOTION 828: MAKING GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S 
COUNTRYSIDE SAFE & ACCESSIBLE 

To receive a report on the Motion presented to Council in 
November 2018

Meeting Date: 22 May 2019

Chairman: Councillor Rob Bird

Presenting Officer: Simon Excell

Purpose of Report: To outline the current position within Public Rights of Way and 
identify  what  measures might be required to achieve the aims 
of Motion 828

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

n/a

Appendices n/a

Recommendations To note the report

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



              
                                                                                                                                      
1. Background

1.1 At County Council in November  2018, the following motion was recorded.

Motion 828 – Making Gloucestershire’s countryside safe and 
accessible

Proposed by Cllr Colin Hay
Seconded by Cllr Loraine Patrick

This Council notes the exceptional countryside in Gloucestershire and the 
significant economic and cultural benefits that this already gives to 
businesses and residents within the county.

However, this Council recognises that the county’s countryside could be 
made safer and more accessible for people, including walkers, those with 
limited physical movement and equine users. This Council also 
recognises that relatively small infrastructure changes could further 
cement the county’s position as a tourist destination of choice for country 
pursuits. Such improvements could include, but are not limited to:

1. Safe connections between walking routes and bridlepaths.
2. Gates on walking paths and bridleways that are more accessible for all 

users and easier to open on a horse.
3. Well-drained surfaces in gateways.
4. Parking facilities on popular routes.

This Council resolves to send this matter to the Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee, for consideration on how the Council 
and the Local  Enterprise Partnership can work with the tourist industry to 
turn Gloucestershire into a centre of excellence for walkers and equine 
users, helping businesses develop new and innovative practices.

2. Current Position

2.1 The overarching policy governing Rights of Way is contained in the Rights 
of Way and Countryside Access Improvement Plan (ROWIP) approved by 
full council in March 2011 and forming part of the Local Transport Plan 3.

2.2 There are approximately 3500 miles (5633km) of public rights of way 
within the county comprising:

Public Footpaths 2840 miles (4570 km)
Bridle Ways 533 miles (857 km)
Restricted Byways 132 miles (212 km)
Byways Open to All Traffic 4 miles (6.4 km)

The Rights of Way asset database records over 9000 stiles and almost 
11,000 gates, both of varying designs and condition, across the network.

Page 8



2.3 There is a legacy of poor surfaces on many bridle ways, predominantly 
caused by lack of maintenance of adjacent ditches, legitimate use of the 
routes by farmers/landowners as well as restricted funds to address the 
resultant damage.  Repairs to such routes can be expensive necessitating 
re-creating ditches, excavation of surface and reinstatement using ground 
membrane and significant quantities of stone/recycled materials.

2.4 Seven officers currently undertake predominantly reactive works to 
maintain the network utilising sub-contractors and volunteers as 
appropriate.   These same officers manage the myriad of issues in their 
geographical areas including enforcement actions, working on planning 
applications and maintenance or improvement of the network.  With 
restricted budget the rights of way (ROW) officers are already constantly 
seeking additional funding by working with local equine groups, offering 
25% grants to landowners to replace stiles with gates and seeking 
contributions from councillors Highways Local funds.

Items 1 – 3 of the Motion are part and parcel of the everyday work of the 
ROW Team although it should be noted that stiles and gates are the 
responsibility of the relevant landowners.  GCC has no authority to ‘force’ 
a landowner to install a gate in place of a stile.

3.  Inspections

3.1 Following the principles of the ROWIP, the ROW Team seek to Inspect 
10% of the path network each year.  

4. Funding & Contributions

4.1 Funding for rights of way is predominantly focused on reactive 
maintenance of the network, although there is a small but valuable 
proportion of maintenance work carried out by volunteer groups and the 
team have a focus on providing training and support to such groups to 
develop this capability further.

4.2 Some Councillors have also made contributions from their Highways 
Local funds towards works on rights of way when approached by the local 
ROW officer.

4.3 Another potential source of funding is the Growing Our Communities fund 
where each Councillor has £30k (over 3 years) which they can use to 
prioritise on projects within their area which assist in promoting local 
community cohesion and activity.  Improvements to and maintenance of 
rights of way would be an excellent use of these funds as local 
communities highly value the rights of way in their area as local walking 
and leisure linkages and routes.

5. Summary and Recommendation

5.1 The current revenue budget is sufficient only to manage the reactive 
maintenance requirements of the network.  Similarly the ROW staffing 
levels are already stretched in covering the statutory responsibilities to 
manage and enforce the activities on the current network.

Page 9



5.2 A broad ranging investigation into improving the ROW network along the 
lines of this motion will require investment into staff resources to explore 
and develop wider funding opportunities with the LEP, the health service, 
the tourist industry and beyond.  A relatively small investment by each 
councillor from their Growing our Communities fund, say £3-5k, would 
provide an excellent way to provide some pump priming and could fund 
an officer for 12 months to investigate and develop funding opportunities, 
along with a prioritisation of projects where most benefit could be created.

5.3 It is recommended that the committee encourage each Councillor to 
consider devoting some of their Growing our Communities funds to this 
and that links are established between the LEP and the ROW team to 
explore funding options.

Page 10



 

 

BIODIVERSITY TASK GROUP REPORT 

MARCH  2019 

1. INTRODUCTION  

 

1.1. In June 2018 a motion was unanimously carried at Gloucestershire County 

Council’s (GCC) Full Council meeting to set up a working group to look at 

protecting and encouraging biodiversity in Gloucestershire. The ambitions of the 

task group were as follows: 

 

- Work with districts, towns and parishes to develop highways management 

systems that protect and support biodiversity in Gloucestershire. 

- Review the GCC highways and biodiversity guidance for Gloucestershire, 

taking into consideration Plantlife's Road Verges and Wildlife Management 

Guidelines: http://plantlife.love-

wildflowers.org.uk/uploads/documents/Road_Verge_Campaign_full_guideli

nes_2015.pdf 

- Embed action points into highway management contracts which give 

contractors clear instructions and communicate expectations. For example, 

the pro-active management of registered conservation verges and careful 

monitoring of pesticides. 

- Look at best practice examples, picking out some key options for trial in 

Gloucestershire to consider their effectiveness, both from an environmental 

and cost point of view. 

 

1.2. MEMBERSHIP 

Councillors Rachel Smith, Lesley Williams, Paul Hodgkinson, Suzanne Williams, 

Shaun Parsons and Terry Hale. 

Councillor Rachel Smith was appointed as chair. 

1.3. MEETINGS 

At the first meeting of the group, it was decided that the final objective was to set up 

a public workshop to explore biodiversity in Gloucestershire with other local 

authorities and ecological groups. 

Members met with officers from GCC to understand what the Council already 

practised to promote biodiversity and to scope what form the workshop would take. 

Members agreed that the main focus of the task group’s work should be the 

management of road verges (grass cutting). 

2. BACKGROUND 

 

2.1. At the Council meeting in June, it was noted that in 1935 almost 40% of the 

Cotswolds landscape was covered with wildflower-rich grassland. Since then, 

unimproved grassland sites have fallen to just 1.5% of the area of the Cotswolds. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

http://plantlife.love-wildflowers.org.uk/uploads/documents/Road_Verge_Campaign_full_guidelines_2015.pdf
http://plantlife.love-wildflowers.org.uk/uploads/documents/Road_Verge_Campaign_full_guidelines_2015.pdf
http://plantlife.love-wildflowers.org.uk/uploads/documents/Road_Verge_Campaign_full_guidelines_2015.pdf


 

 

It was further noted that: 

- That thousands of species are at risk of extinction due to habitat loss. 

- That the loss of biodiversity is having serious consequences for the 

resilience of ecosystem functions on which our communities and 

countryside depend. 

- With the loss of lowland meadows and pastures across the UK, grassy road 

verges in particular offer vital refuges for plants and wildflowers. 

 

2.2. GCC officers advised members that grass cutting falls under the highways 

maintenance contract. This contract is currently held with Amey but is due to move 

to Ringway in April this year. In the new contract, Ringway have made a 

commitment to bring together operational experience and access to international 

best practise and innovation to robustly manage environmental aspects and 

introduce forward-thinking initiatives. 

 

2.3. As part of the Council’s statutory duty to conserve biodiversity under the Natural 

Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006, a ‘Gloucestershire Highways & 

Biodiversity Guidance’ has already been produced but needed some updating.  

 

The objectives of this are as follows:  

- To raise awareness of biodiversity matters affecting highways work;  

- to ensure highway activities operate within wildlife law;  

- to reduce the extra costs and delays from not identifying biodiversity issues 

at the earliest appropriate stage; and 

- to set out practical and realistic activities that will contribute to the protection 

and enhancement of biodiversity.  

 

2.4. Officers advised that grass cutting by the Council is primarily carried out for safety 

reasons on the highway which includes; visibility at junctions and bends, preventing 

traffic signs and bollards becoming obscured and to provide safe refuge. In 

addition, management allows the control of brushwood and scrub as well as 

preventing the spread of noxious weeds and reducing fire risk. 

 

2.5. Verges are currently cut annually in May with a 1.2 metre swathe and will include 

all visibility swathes. Visibility areas then receive a second cut later in the year 

(usually September/October), depending on growing conditions. 

 

2.6. GCC is partnered with some district, borough, town and parish councils who 

undertake their own grass cutting, often for aesthetic reasons. 

 

2.7. GCC and Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust (GWT) coordinate efforts to identify and 

protect verges, but only for significant wildlife/community value in the County. 

Some roadside verges are of botanical significance, supporting remnant wildflower 

assemblages as well as habitat for butterflies and bees; some of which are 

nationally scarce. Verges, although mainly grassland, also provide hedgerow and 

ditch habitats which support other declining species. 

 

Page 12



 

 

2.8. There are currently 108 Designated Conservation Road verges. 

 

3. BIODIVERSITY WORKSHOP 

 

3.1. On 12 January 2019, the task group held a ‘Biodiversity Workshop’ at GCC to 

which they invited a selection of local parishes, district councils and ecological 

groups. The aim of which was to assist the task group in producing 

recommendations to help the Council better protect and support biodiversity in 

Gloucestershire and if possible, also save costs in managing verges. 

 

3.2. Attendees were as follows: 

 

- Cllr Lesley Williams (chair) – GCC 

- Cllr Suzanne Williams  – GCC 

- Cllr Paul Hodgkinson  – GCC 

- Cllr Terry Hale – GCC 

- Cllr Shaun Parsons – GCC 

- Bob Skillern – Area Highways Manager at GCC 

- Gary Kennison – Principal Ecologist at GCC 

- Dr Gareth Parry – Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust 

- Elin Tattersall – Gloucestershire Rural Community Council 

- Cllr Robert Scott – Maisemore Parish Council 

- Cathy Beeching – Environment Agency 

- Mark Connelly – Cotswold Conservation Board 

- Mike Dando – Stroud Town Council 

- Val Bourne – Cold Aston 

- Diana Ray – Living Green 

- Jo Kirby – Cold Aston 

- Roger Jones – Cold Aston 

- Kate Petty – Plantlife 

- Ben McCarthy – Plantlife  

- Jenny Phelps – Farming & Wildlife advisory group 

- Charlotte Marshall – Farming & Wildlife advisory group 

- Dr Phil Sterling – Butterfly Conservation (Ex- Dorset County Council) 

- Giles Nicholson –Dorset County Council 

- Rik Rolfe – Bioscience team at the University of Gloucestershire 

- Cllr Andrew Cooley – Maisemore Parish Council 

- Cllr Chris McFarling – Forest of Dean District Council 

 

3.3. The workshop agenda was split into 3 key areas. Each section contained 

presentations from selected attendees, which were followed by a question and 

answer sessions. 

 

3.4. SECTION 1: VERGE MANAGEMENT FOR BIODIVERSITY NOW AND 

ASPIRATIONS FOR THE FUTURE 

 

3.4.1. This section addressed the question; ‘Where are we now’?  

 

Page 13



 

 

3.4.2. First, GCC’s Highways Manager explained the role of the highways authority 

for biodiversity, followed by the Principal Ecologist who gave an overview of 

the Council’s current biodiversity policy, both as outlined in section 2. 

 

3.4.3. Second, the GWT followed to further explained the Council’s legal duty to 

protect biodiversity, why there is a reluctance from the public to engage and 

started to explore the question, ‘what could we do better’. 

 

3.4.4. GWT informed the group that the UK is one of the most nature-depleted 

countries in the world, and there are lots of components involved in making 

this better, such as: 

- a more efficient use of resources and use of sustainable energy in 

relation to transport and infrastructure; 

- promoting active travel; and 

- embedding green infrastructure into thinking and planning for future 

development and regeneration. 

 

3.4.5. A link was explored between highways and a broader public benefit. GWT 

suggested that biodiverse verges can significantly increase walking and 

cycling rates. Whilst verge trees can improve air quality, capture carbon and 

cool urban areas.  

 

3.5. DISCUSSION POINTS 

 

3.5.1. There was a discussion about the timing of cuttings. It was suggested that 

cutting in May is too late into spring and that this can harm the growth of 

wildflowers. Most attendees agreed that the later the cut the better, a 

July/August cut could lead to less of a need for a second cut which may lead 

to a financial saving. The point was made however that there needs to be a 

balance with safety needs and maybe a cut in March/April followed by a late 

summer cut, only for the safety areas, could be a good compromise. 

 

3.5.2. Fewer cuts per year will not only be a cost saving for the Council but it allows 

biodiversity to flourish and can encourage up to 50x the number of butterflies 

to certain areas. 

 

3.5.3. Attendees commended the nationally recognised register of designated 

conservation road verges but highlighted that out of 3300 miles of highway in 

Gloucestershire, the 108 registered sites only covered about 1% which is 

clearly a very small percentage. There will be many high quality verges in 

the county still to be assessed. 

 

3.5.4. Many highlighted this issue of communicating protected verges to sub-

contractors. There have been many experiences of contractors not knowing 

they’re in a protected area and cutting anyway. The ‘BLUE’ campaign was 

raised; the ‘BLUE’ heart is now recognised nationally as the symbol for 

rewilding Britain and could be used as a logo on site to show protected 

verges and trial areas. 

Page 14



 

 

 

3.5.5. GCC advised that the recognised ‘wildlife verges’ are managed differently to 

the rest of the network. The default position is to not manage the verge but 

some cutting at the right time is actually required for most species of interest. 

 

3.5.6. The issue of ‘cut and collect’ was discussed at length. If cuttings aren’t 

collected after the verge is cut, the remaining arisings’ rot and the nutrients 

get recycled into the verge. This results in the grass growing taller and 

shading out many of the smaller, less common wildflowers. 

 

3.5.7. The reason cuttings aren’t currently removed by GCC contractors is due to 

the associated increase in cost, time and effort, but the advantage for 

biodiversity can be incredible. It was confirmed by GCC that this is a process 

they want to look at; the main issue is balancing the physical ability to cover 

the whole network within the allocated time period. GCC are currently 

carrying out a trial in Andoversford to monitor the cut and collect process. 

 

3.5.8. All in attendance appreciated the benefit of delegating verge management to 

parish/town councils but also noted the very low numbers of areas taking this 

responsibility on, currently only around 40 out of 250 parishes. The point was 

made that there usually needs to be a keen interest in biodiversity for the 

delegation to happen. 

 

3.5.9. The Farming & Wildlife Advisory Group emphasised the need for improved 

local synergy with farmers and local authorities. The management of water 

should not be underestimated alongside improving biodiversity.  

 

3.5.10. Roadside ditches themselves if managed well and sensitively can be of 

value to biodiversity as well as perform and important drainage functions for 

the road and surrounding land. For example, allowing surface water to run 

off into and off from verges, grips and ditches. 

 

3.5.11. GCC advised that they rely on the public notifying if grips and ditches need 

maintaining and this may be another positive of delegation to more local 

authorities. 

 

3.6. OUTCOMES TO CONSIDER: 

 

3.6.1. The timing of cuttings; 

 

3.6.2. how we can encourage/promote more engagement from parish/town 

councils to manage their own verges; 

 

3.6.3. how to highlight protected verges to contractors; 

 

3.6.4. how to effectively communicate biodiversity actions to the public, which is 

critical to enhance understanding and appreciation; and 

 

Page 15



 

 

3.6.5. the issue of collecting cuttings on verges which can reduce future growth of 

vigorous grasses and save costs in addition to conserving wildflowers and 

butterflies etc. 

 

3.7. SECTION 2: WHAT ARE WE DOING NOW TO TRY AND MAKE THINGS 

BETTER FOR BIODIVERSITY ON VERGES 

 

3.7.1. This section addressed the question, ‘Where do we want to get to?’ 

 

3.7.2. First, Cold Aston Parish Council gave a presentation about action they have 

taken in their local area. Cold Aston is an excellent example of delegated 

responsibility for verges.  

 

The following information was shared: 

- Individuals involved in Cold Aston have over 20 years of interest and 

experience in this area. 

- They carried out botanical surveys of the verges to identify the different 

flowers and grasses and worked with the Parish Council to get two 

verge areas registered officially for Conservation Verge Status. 

- The team generally keep an eye on what’s happening, including 

keeping in contact with mowing contractors – but again reinforced the 

issue of miscommunications with contractors. 

- On the issue of when to cut verges; the team stressed that it’s all about 

timing. Verges should be allowed to seed in as many years as possible, 

cutting only in September allows the seeds to flourish and only poor 

visibility areas should need two cuts. 

- The importance of positive public messaging that this isn’t an 

impossible task; several years of good management can make a huge 

difference for biodiversity. 

 

3.7.3. Second, Plantlife gave a presentation on their ‘The Good Verge Guide’, 

which formed the basis of the original motion to Council back in June. 

The following information was shared: 

- Plantlife is a British conservation charity working nationally and 

internationally to save threatened wild flowers, plants and fungi. The 

team are keen to offer any support and help they can to local 

authorities in tackling this issue. 

- The status quo isn’t working. The quality of road verge is decreasing 

and the managing costs are increasing – a ‘lose / lose’ scenario. 

- They are currently running a campaign, ‘Save Nature on our Road 

Verges’ which they have seen a huge public appetite for, including 

350 constituents from Gloucestershire. The campaign is focused on 

promoting & celebrating good management where it occurs. 

- The charity’s ‘The Good Verge Guide’ was created to give a different 

approach on verge management. It explores basic principles all 

authorities can implement for significant improvements. 

Page 16



 

 

- The four main principles of the guide are; (annual) management is 

essential on 'most verges' (there are some animal and plant species 

that will not survive cutting every year); grow, flower, seed, mow and 

remove the cuttings where possible. 

- The timing of cuts was further explored and the following advice was 

given: 

 Early cutting dates reduce floral diversity over time. It gives 

no opportunity to set seed and encourages vigorous growth 

of robust species. 

 Late cutting dates also reduce floral diversity over time. It can 

cause a thick ‘thatch’ build up which covers open soil. 

 No clearance of cut vegetation can also cause a thick 'thatch' 

to build up which suppresses seedlings and increases 

nutrient levels so only tall grasses benefit. 

 No cutting can be even worse. Species composition changes 

after only 1 year and correct management helps to maximise 

species diversity. Not cutting can lead to incredibly expensive 

and complicated management 5 to 10 years later. 

- They will be releasing a new RV technical guide in spring 2019 which 

explores best practise for highways engineers and contractors as 

well as innovative road verge management. 

 

3.8. DISCUSSION POINTS 

 

3.8.1. A point was made that in order to gain community support, physically 

planting different, more ‘attractive’ flowers to the verges could increase the 

aesthetic appeal to the public. 

 

3.8.2. It was suggested that volunteers can be a good source of help when 

collecting cuttings, but this was disputed as machinery could cover a lot 

more in a day than a person. It was reiterated that collecting cuttings is 

doable but the Council needs to consider time and budget constraints. 

 

3.8.3. Plantlife advised that information on the best machinery and tools to hire/buy 

for cut and collect will be available in their new technical guidance. 

 

3.8.4. It became clear to the attendees that cost is always found as a barrier in 

these circumstances. It was suggested that for local authorities, the best way 

forward is to create an economic case for verge management. If it can be 

shown there will be a saving to the public purse by a) investing for the long-

term with equipment etc., and b) through a reduction of service; it is more 

likely to be considered. 

 

3.9. OUTCOMES TO CONSIDER 

 

3.9.1. The new ‘Plantlife’ technical guidance due spring 2019; 

 

Page 17



 

 

3.9.2.  investment into ‘cut and collect’ machinery to make savings in the long-term; 

and 

 

3.9.3.  creating an economic case for changing the verge management strategy. 

 

3.10. SECTION 3: THINGS THAT COULD BE DONE TO HELP US TO IMPROVE 

BIODIVERSITY ON LOCAL VERGES. 

 

3.10.1. This section addressed the question: How do we get there? 

 

3.10.2. The workshop received a presentation from Dorset County Council’s 

(DCC) current and previous ecologists. DCC are well known for their new, 

ambitious and creative approach to biodiversity management. 

 

3.10.3. The Council representatives outlined their ‘journey’ as follows: 

- DCC had many drivers for reviewing their biodiversity strategy, 

which included, budget reductions, pressure to reduce their 

carbon footprint and an increase in complaints due to 

budget/service reductions.  

- In 2014 they adopted the Policy on Highway Vegetation 

Management which set out: 

o a long-term strategy of reducing soil fertility; 

o injection of additional resources; 

o improving communication and community engagement; 

and 

o reforming operational and contractual arrangements. 

- By 2017/18, the Council saw a 15% saving to their budget (from 

£927k 2014/15 to £785k). 

- Their team noted one of the main problems with how local 

authorities currently view verge management is basing success 

on achieving output. 

- For example, if a contract states that ‘X’ number of cuts must be 

completed per year, the success of that contract is measured on 

completion of that number. When what should be offered, is an 

outcome based model e.g. has the contractor helped to improve 

biodiversity and reduce the number of cuts needed during this 

period. 

- It was explained that the four main components that control grass 

growth are: water, light, temperature and soil nutrients. The only 

one of these that can be controlled is the fertility of the soil.  

- It was suggested therefore, that if local authorities switch to using 

poor/sub-standard soils in landscaping on verges; this would 

reduce the amount of grass that grows in the first place and thus 

reduces management needs. Grass growth would be controlled 

by design not maintenance. 

- Infertile soils also happen to be the best for wildflowers to thrive 

in, and in time verges can become rich in wildlife. 

Page 18



 

 

- Reference was made to the Weymouth Relief Road constructed 

in 2009. The ecological team requested minimal top soil for this 

project and instead laid wildflower seed within a chalk and 

limestone design. They let nature do the rest and the result was 

fantastic. 

- In addition the team requested public access for the project to 

encourage walkers and cyclists. 

- The benefits for DCC of taking a different approach for the Relief 

Road included multiple green infrastructure benefits, a cost 

saving of £270k from no topsoil and verge management costs are 

<£500/yr. 

- A final point was made that there are alternatives to mechanical 

mowers to maintain wild verges e.g. sheep. 

 

3.10.4. The second part of their presentation outlined their new approach in 

practice: 

- Business cases were produced to enable investment in cut and 

collect machines. DCC have now purchased ‘Grillo’ ride-on 

mowers. 

- Their new practice is ‘disposal on-site’ which means once the 

verge has been mowed, the machine will reverse into a bramble 

patch or hedge line, and dispose of the cuttings out of normal 

sight. 

- The green waste therefore remains on the verge but all in one 

place. If the cutting is in an urban area, cuttings are sometimes 

deposited into a trailer for removal. 

- The presenters confirmed they have received fewer complaints 

as the public see a tidier result. 

- They highlighted that litter is also picked up alongside the 

cuttings, meaning the process of clearing litter on verges has 

become quicker and cheaper. It also makes the process safer for 

staff as all litter is in one place, away from the highway. 

- An example was referenced of when they invested a small 

amount of capital into an accident black spot area. The verge 

had grown out of control and was very difficult to manage. They 

removed the soil, replaced with chalk and now very low growing 

species have replaced the grass and thus maintenance costs 

have decreased. 

 

3.11. DISCUSSION POINTS 

 

3.11.1. In response to questioning, DCC have experienced no issues with the 

disposal onsite method since they started 2 years ago. They informed the 

group that the cuttings left in one space tend to rot down to almost 

nothing and there have been records of grass snakes using the ‘waste’ for 

breeding. 

 

Page 19



 

 

3.11.2. It was highlighted that the gold standard of verge cut and collect would be 

to then turn the cuttings into biogas, potentially an aspiration for the 

future. 

 

3.11.3. It was confirmed DCC took legal advice on waste management due to the 

new disposal on site method and because the cuttings aren’t actually 

leaving the verge, they don’t count as waste. 

 

3.11.4. It was queried that if new machines were purchased by the county, would 

this discourage parish/town participation.  

 

3.11.5. It was advised that the machines purchased by DCC only work on wider, 

flat verges. There needs to be more investment in additional machinery to 

be able to do narrow, steeper verges. They confirmed this is their 

aspiration. 

 

3.12. OUTCOMES TO CONSIDER 

 

3.12.1. Requesting a percentage of the budget on major highways projects to be 

allocated for green infrastructure; 

 

3.12.2. alternatives to using fertile top soil which saves money; 

 

3.12.3. changing the wording of highways maintenance contracts to infer an 

outcome rather than output based success; and 

 

3.12.4. consider a business case for investment in cut-and-collect machinery; 

 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 

In response to the above evidence gathering, the task group have concluded to make the 

following: 

Points to note 

4.1.  To highlight the importance of not littering. If verges are full of litter, it is very difficult 

for biodiversity to thrive. It causes a hazard to plant flourishment, animal safety and 

the environment as a whole through pollutants. 

 

4.2. As the task group terms of reference committed to look at the use of pesticides, to 

highlight GCC’s current position: 

 

‘Gloucestershire County Council use glyphosate to treat noxious weeds and also it 

may be used when we are undertaking surfacing treatment work to prevent weed 

germination under a new surface. The spraying programme uses glyphosate, but 

this is not part of our cyclical programme, and only occurs if County Councillors 

specifically request it to be funded from their Highways local allocation.’ 
 

Page 20



 

 

 

 

Recommendations to Gloucestershire Highways 

4.3. To allocate a sufficient and appropriate budget from within the total costings of 

every major highways project to protect and enhance green infrastructure, bearing 

in mind our commitment to the Green Infrastructure Pledge. 

 

Timescale: Immediately 

 

4.4. To undertake to create a business case for allowing a greater collection of grass 

cuttings whilst managing verges through the purchase of suitable machinery. 

 

Timescale: To feedback by 1st July 

 

4.5. To commit to using low fertility treatments as an alternative to top soil, where this 

involves no extra cost.  

  

Members learnt in the workshop that using alternatives such as chalk, limestone or 

even sand have the potential to save time and money, both on creation and during 

future management. Not only do low-fertility treatments reduce grass growth but 

they also allow wildflowers to thrive. 

 

Timescale: Immediately 

 

4.6. To commit to reviewing the ‘Plantlife’ technical guidance when available, to 

incorporate any practical points into the verge management strategy where possible 

and feed this back to members. 

 

Timescale: Technical guidance due spring 2019 

 

4.7. To consider the best way to mark and identify protected verges ‘on the ground’ as 

well as updating the electronic register. 

 

There were examples given during the workshop where sub-contractors managing 

the verges have accidently cut on a protected verge. Examples such as marking the 

beginning and end of a protected verge with a white post were highlighted. 

 

Timescale: To feedback by 1st July 

 

4.8. To feedback to Ringway, as the new term maintenance contractors, the Council’s 

view of taking a flexible approach when it comes to the timing and frequency of 

verge cuts. 

 

The group agreed that the later the cut into the growing season (generally April to 

early July), the more likely it is to cause a disadvantage to flora, flowering and 

Page 21



 

 

seeding. It was noted however that road safety must be the governing factor when 

considering timing/frequency of cuts throughout the year. 

 

Timescale: Immediately 

 

4.9. To write to Highways England to feedback the recommendations and findings of this 

report. 

  

 Timescale: Immediately  

 

4.10. To encourage better engagement with parish/town council’s regarding the 

delegation of verge management and awareness of biodiversity. 

 

The group acknowledge that this engagement could also come from members 

within their own parish/town Council’s. Therefore, there would be a request to 

officers to produce a short information sheet covering the following, for all members 

to distribute as they wish within their areas: 

 

 How GCC can support parish/town council’s to take responsibility for their 
own verge management. 

 Awareness of biodiversity e.g. examples of recommendations from this 
report and exemplar cases such as Cold Aston Parish Council. 

 Litter picking and herbicides use policies. 
 

 

Cllr Rachel Smith (Chair) 

Cllr Lesley Williams 

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Cllr Suzanne Williams 

Cllr Shaun Parsons 

Cllr Terry Hale 

Page 22



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
 

22nd May 2019 
 

Director’s Report, Communities & Infrastructure (revised format) 
 
This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  A new format is being trialled seeking to 
make best use of existing management information and to provide a simple and easier 
read for Members. 
 
1.0 Decisions 
1.1 Relevant decisions by County Council, Cabinet, Cabinet Members and delegated to 

Officers, by date taken: 

 Highways Professional Services Contract Procurement (Lead Commissioner: 
Highway Authority, March) 

 Tender and Award of Contract to provide bus service 855 (Northleach) (Lead 
Commissioner: Community Infrastructure, January) 

 
1.2 Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due: 

 Third Party Recycling Credits Consultation (Cabinet Member - Environment and 
Planning, between 25 Feb 2019 and 29 Mar 2019) 

 Procurement and award of contracts for the bulking, haulage and treatment of 
garden waste (Cabinet Jun 2019) 

 Financial Monitoring Report (June 2019) (Cabinet, Jun 2019) 

 Revenue and Capital Expenditure Outturn Report 2018/19 (Cabinet, Jun 2019) 

 Financial Monitoring Report (July 2019) (Cabinet, Jul 2019) 

 Producing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 
(Cabinet, Jul 2019) 

 Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy (Cabinet Oct 2019) 

 Financial Monitoring Report (Nov 2019) (Cabinet, Nov 2019) 

 Corporate Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy (For Publication and 
Consultation) (Cabinet, Dec 2019) 

 Financial Monitoring Report (Dec 2019) (Cabinet, Dec 2019) 
 

2.0 Highways update 
 
2.1 Highways Contracts 

 From the 1st April 2019 Ringway (maintenance) and Atkins (professional 
services) have taken responsibility for delivery of highway services.  Their teams 
are based in Shire Hall on the 6th floor of block 5 to aid collaborative working 
with County Council officers.  The focus is now on embedding these contracts 
and the processes needed to deliver as efficiently as possible.  The Structural 
Maintenance contract (currently delivered by Tarmac) will be retendered later 
this year as this was awarded for a 2 year period. 

 
2.2 £150m Highways Improvement Programme 

 Programme continues to be delivered on schedule.  2019/20 Highways Capital 
Programme is in the process of being finalised.  Looking and developing support 
for Borough and Districts to develop their aspirations.   

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1261
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1245
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28010&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28684&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28684&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27717&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27714&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27716&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27715&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28101&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27718&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27720&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27720&Opt=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27719&Opt=0


2.3 A40 West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Schemes/ Cyber Business Park 

 On 19th December 2018, Cabinet approved the proposed portfolio of works 
associated with the £22M Growth Deal 3 allocation for the West Cheltenham 
Transport Improvement Schemes.   

 Business case development is ongoing for Phase 1 and 2 (Arle Court/Golden 
Valley A40). Public share events are planned for June 2019, the business cases 
are scheduled for considered by the LEP board in autumn.  Subject to approval 
the proposed start date on Phase 1 is January 2020 and Phase 2 summer 
2020.   

 Feasibility work and early scheme design continues for phases 3 and 4.  
Construction is not scheduled to commence until Q4 2020/21.. 

 
2.4 A419 junction improvements (Stonehouse) 

 Construction commenced in March 2019. Works include: capacity improvement, 
signal infrastructure upgrades and shared-use path creation/enhancement along 
route length from Horsetrough roundabout through to Chipmans Platt (M5 J13).   

 
2.5 A38 Cross Keys roundabout (Hardwicke) 

 Construction is programmed to commence in May 2019. Works include: 
Widening of approach arms to the roundabout and circulatory of the roundabout 
itself. Works include for underground ducting to enable Phase 2, partial 
signalisation of the roundabout at a later date. 

 
2.6 A35 Cycle Scheme (Cheltenham to Bishops Cleave) 

 Work on cycle track design and associated land purchase continues on the 
A435, Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve.  The focus during in Q1 2019/20 will be 
on pricing for new foot/cycle bridge across GWSR tracks at Cheltenham 
Racecourse station. 

2.7 Chepstow Bypass 

 Capita Property and Infrastructure PLC were awarded a commission in April 
2018 to undertake a transport study within Chepstow which has now concluded.  
This was jointly funded by Monmouthshire County Council (MCC) and GCC, 
with MCC being the commissioning body. The study objective was to undertake 
a WelTAG (Welsh equivalent of WebTAG) stage 1 / Strategic Outline Business 
Case (OBC) appraisal of transport options to address issues within Chepstow 
and the wider region.  Consideration has been given to the wider issues and 
impacts for the A48 corridor from Lydney in the east to Chepstow in the west. 
The study identifies the following options as more favourable:  

o A Chepstow Bypass – Beachley and Sedbury,  

o improved Rail services to Bristol and Park & Ride Rail and 

o a Do Minimum scenario (for baseline assessment against other 
recommended options). 

o In addition, a number of “quick win” options were also identified.  

 The study also recommends that a WelTAG Stage 2 study is produced next, to 
progress the best option. There is currently no funding available for this second 
stage study, however, MCC are in the process of setting up an officer level study 
management and a member steering group with officers and members from 
MCC, Forest of Dean District Council and GCC represented. 

Page 24



3.0 Strategic Infrastructure Update 
 
3.1 A417 Missing Link 

 Highways England made the Preferred Route Announcement (PRA) for the 
A417 Missing Link scheme on 14 March 2019.  Statutory public consultation will 
take place soon, commencing in either late June or September, to avoid the 
school holidays. 

 After consultation, preparation will be made for the planning permission process 
– the Development Consent Order (DCO). This is likely to commence in spring 
2020 and will take approximately 18 months.  Construction is scheduled to start 
in late 2021. 

 The capital funding to construct the scheme needs to be allocated in the Road 
Investment Strategy (RIS).  The RIS announcements will be made later this 
autumn and GCC must continue to lobby government to ensure that the A417 
Missing Link scheme is included. 

 
3.2 M5 Junction 10 – Housing Infrastructure Fund Bid 

 A business case was submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) on 21 March 2019.  MHCLG has confirmed that 
assessment of the business case will commence in June, and will not be 
completed until the autumn at the earliest.  
 

 The final submission comprises: 
o An upgraded motorway junction 

o Link road to the West Cheltenham area 

o Upgraded Arle Court park and ride site 

o Improvement at the Coombe Hill junction 

o Widening of the A4019 Tewkesbury road. 

 If successful, the improvements are scheduled to be completed by 2024. 
 
3.3 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) 

 The A46 Partnership meets 3 times a year to work to secure improvements to 
the M5 Junction 9 and the A46.  The Partnership works alongside Highways 
England, the Department for Transport and Midlands Connect the proposed sub 
national transport body (STB) for the midlands area.  The next Road Investment 
Strategy (RIS) will be announced by government in the autumn and GCC and 
Midlands Connect are lobbying to seek a positive announcement for J9 and the 
A46. 

 

 A separate strategic outline business case is being produced and will be 
submitted through the Western Gateway STB as a Large Local Major regional 
priority.  The deadline for submitting this scheme is July 2019.  If successful the 
scheme will begin construction before 2025. 

 

 Tewkesbury Borough Council has recently been successful with a bid to 
government for Garden Town status at Ashchurch.  This will bring 10,000 plus 
dwellings to the area.  This announcement will add pressure to an already 
congested Junction 9 and A46 so there becomes an even greater need to 
provide the necessary upgrade to infrastructure in the area. 

Page 25



 
3.4 Improved rail connectivity 

 It has been a long held policy ambition to improve rail access from Gloucester. 
In the short-term the focus is to improve the frequency of services accessing 
Bristol through an extension to the Metro-West Phase 2 project.  Network Rail 
has raised concerns over the need for additional signal work at Gloucester 
station.  They have stated that this issue would need to be resolved to ensure 
operational viability before any additional services could be timetabled.  
Discussions are ongoing with Network Rail to understand how this issue could 
be resolved in the short-term. In addition to this officers are contributing to the 
emerging Birmingham to Bristol rail partnership and the North Cotswold Line 
Task Force to lobby for improved services calling at Moreton in Marsh. 

3.5 Strategic cycle network 

 Highways England (HE) is promoting a £3.6M cycle improvements scheme 
between Gloucester and Cheltenham, which will be constructed along the 
B4063 by the end of 2020.  Officers will continue to engage with HE, providing 
expertise around Member engagement, stakeholder management and design 
support.  Other cycle improvements will be promoted and delivered as funding 
opportunities arise. 

 Work on cycle infrastructure improvements in Lydney town centre will begin in 
summer 2019 using £1m LEP funding. 

 The adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP) is currently being reviewed and a 
public consultation is envisaged for early 2019. The LTP promotes mode shift 
from the private car to more active forms of travel.  It is envisaged, that the 
revised Local Transport Plan will identify the key cycle desire lines linking 
primary areas of growth and identify key corridors where cycle projects would 
contribute towards full cycle access on these desire lines.   

3.6 Local Plan making 

 The Joint Core Strategy review started with an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation 
undertaken between 12th November 2018 and 11th January 2019.  

 The Stroud Local Plan review saw an Issues and Options consultation during 
autumn 2017 and a public consultation on the Emerging Strategy from 16th 
November 2018 until 18th January 2019. 

 The Minerals Local Plan (MLP) Hearing dates have been confirmed as being 
11-12th June, with 13th June as a possible extension date.  

 The submission version of the new MLP includes support for creating and 
enhancing green infrastructure (GI) in accordance with the Local Nature 
Partnership (LNP) GI Pledge which GCC signed up to in autumn 2018.  Work 
will be progressed with LNP partners, especially the Wildlife Trust, to begin to 
construct a new nature (ecological) recovery network that will help to inform 
future decisions.   

 At a recent meeting with Strategic Directors the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
review was discussed.  It was agreed that the existing LTP review would be 
light-touch.  This would enable greater collaborative working between GCC and 
the Districts officers in the production of a robust longer-term strategy reflective 
of local plan periods.  Strategic Directors also agreed for GCC officers to have a 
more active role in the identification of strategic development allocations to 

Page 26



ensure that the most sustainable transport locations were considered in the 
local plan making process.   

3.7 Lead Local Flood Authority 

 Following the completion of a £2.7M flood alleviation scheme at Priors/Oakley, 
northwest of Cheltenham there is a need to monitor the recovery of the 
landscape.  This includes the use of fixed-point aerial photography to 
demonstrate recovery of landscape over time.  Other planned projects include: 
o Continue to develop and support local Flood Action Groups to improve local 

awareness of, and resilience to local flood risk.  
o Investigate potential flood alleviation scheme, including natural flood 

management measures, for Bishop’s Cleeve.  
o Promote and deliver a property level resilience project near Gloucester to 

protect 12-14 homes from flooding. 
 
4.0 Community Infrastructure Update 
 
4.1 Cheltenham Transport Plan  

 Following the first 6 months of consultation and traffic monitoring, Cheltenham 
Borough Council (CBC) agreed, in January, to extend the trial to allow further 
mitigation measures to be installed.  Changes, to take effect at the start of June, 
include making part of Clarence Street and Clarence Parade two-way, 
simplifying the bus gate and restrictions and additional disabled parking spaces 
in Winchcombe Street.  Additionally officers are reviewing options to reduce 
traffic using Rodney Road as a through route and to improve traffic signals on 
St Margaret’s Road. The consultation period will be extended for a further 6 
months, for the TRO Committee to meet in December. 

 
4.2 Public Transport–  

 A scheme to manage parking at Arle Court Park and Ride site went live on 13th 
May. This will ensure that there is sufficient capacity at the site to enable 
demand for the park and ride and hospital bus services to grow, reducing car 
trips on roads into the centres of Cheltenham and Gloucester.. This innovative 
system uses digital solutions instead of physical barriers and parking meters that 
are expensive to install and operate. Park and riders simply enter their vehicle 
registration on a touch screen terminal at the bus stop and validate a QR ticket 
on the bus to register for free parking. Park and walkers must pay to park using 
our cashless MiPermit app, which can be done up to one week in advance. 
Patrols by APCOA enforcement officers and a fine of up to £50 will encourage 
compliance. 

 
4.3 Parking 

 Cabinet (December 2018) agreed increases in Pay & Display and Permit 
charges that came into effect on 1st April 2019.  

 The restructure of the Parking Team is complete and effective from 1st April 
2019. Jim Daniels has retired and Alexis Newport has been appointed Parking 
Manager after a competitive recruitment process. The TRO Team that was 
formerly part of Amey has been in-sourced back into the Parking Team. 
 

4.4 Climate Change Summit 

 The Council is holding a Climate Change Summit with Gfirst Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) on 21st May, to which a range of public, private and 

Page 27



community organisations have been invited.  The ambition is to achieve a 
carbon neutral county by 2050.  This will be looking at how we can all contribute 
to the delivery of the most sustainable development and shape communities 
accordingly, helping to deliver the ambitions of the Gloucestershire Energy 
Strategy and contribute to updating the County Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy.  The outcomes from this event will be used to develop a new Climate 
Change Strategy and Action Plan for the Council.  The draft Strategy & Action 
Plan is planned to be published for public consultation in the summer, and to go 
on to Cabinet in October 2019. 
 

4.5  Highways Development Management 

 A Members Seminar has been arranged to follow on from this Committee 
meeting to introduce new members of staff, explain team changes and highlight 
the role of HDM in delivering economic growth. 
 

4.6 Air Quality 

 Over the past few months the Air Quality & Health Partnership has been 
developing a draft Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. This is one 
of the recommendations of the Task Group, supported by this Committee and 
agreed by Cabinet last year. A report to Health and Wellbeing Board on 14th 
May summarised the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health strategy 
development process and the key strategic areas for delivery. Board members 
were asked to approve the strategy for implementation in Gloucestershire, and 
to consider how their organisation can make specific commitments to support its 
implementation.  

 

5.0 Waste Update 

5.1 Joint Waste Committee  

 Food waste incentive payments have been made to each district in line with the 
current agreements.  

 Preparations are being made to ensure waste transfer is in place prior to 
commissioning of Javelin Park.  

 The Joint Waste Team has been supporting Cotswold District Council in the 
design and preparations for the new kerbside collection service.  

 Maintenance of the Recycle for Gloucestershire website is ongoing, and other 
waste minimisation & recycling communications have been delivered across the 
county during and after the Christmas period. The promotion of Real Nappies 
and home composting continues to deliver waste reduction throughout the 
county. 

 A home composting campaign will commence in May 19, offering free delivery 
of compost bins for a limited time. Food waste incentives continue to be paid, 
and new ‘no food waste’ residual bin stickers will be provided to each district 
which requires them.  

 The procurement of a new garden waste composting contract will commence 
(subject to cabinet approval in June).  

 Options for a future waste partnership are being considered ahead of the 
termination of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee in December 2019. 

Page 28



5.2 Residual Waste Project 

 Construction of the Javelin Park Energy from Waste is progressing well and 
remains on track for commencement in the summer. 

 

6.0 Library and Registration Update 

6.1 Libraries 

 Refurbishments undertaken within Cheltenham & Gloucester in order to 
improve customer access to stock and Wi-Fi. 

 Stonehouse Library: A Customer engagement survey is underway and ends on 
25th May 2019.  To date the responses we have received show no significant 
negative impact on customers accessing our services.  We have received very 
positive feedback on the proposal to date.  Stonehouse Library – Service will 
provide a report following the end of the customer engagement.  Legal 
negotiations continue.  Planning permission for change of use will be sought.  
Design for internal library area will be determined. 

 Public Sector Mobile: The vehicle went for its regular safety inspection in March 
2019 where defects were found.  We are liaising with GFRS over repair costs.  
The service is communicating with all regular customers to ensure their needs 
continue to be met. 

 Service submitted a successful application for a Cultural Trainee funded 
through Gloucester Culture Trust.  Will work one day a week with Strike-a-Light. 

 Coleford Innovation Lab is being refurbished, re-branded and re-launched in 
July.  A package of workshops and activities are being developed in partnership 
with local companies. 

6.2 Registration Services 

 Pilot Registration Office introduced into Quedgeley Library.  Extremely positive 
feedback from Community, therefore this office will be retained. 

Contact Officer 
Colin Chick, Strategic Adviser (Communities & Infrastructure) 
colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 01452 328470 

Page 29

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment & Communities Scrutiny Scorecard

Quarter 3 2018/19

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page no.
Key to Symbols 2
Highways & Flood 3
Planning & Infrastructure & Waste 4
Public Protection, Parking & Libraries 6
Strategic Risk Register Summary 7

1

P
age 31

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,736,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4)

4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3)

3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1)

1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 32



Highways & Flood
Cllr Vernon Smith

Highways & Floods

28 day defects repaired or
made safe  overall %
repaired in time (other
defects)

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94.5 % 77.8 % 98.0 % 98.8 % 99.5 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% delivery of the annual
gulley emptying
programme

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

89.0 % 113.0 % 36.0 % 67.0 % 70.0 % 75.0 %
Contractor is aware and we have assurances the
programme of gulley emptying will be completed.

Publicly
Reported

% of Sustainable Urban
Drainage responses made
to Local Planning
Authorities within 21 days

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

100.0 % 93.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 94.0 % 95.0 %

Two of the five consultations on which the deadline was
missed were significantly complicated, and necessitated
more research and consultation than the deadline
allowed.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

3

P
age 33

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Environment & Planning
                   Cllr Nigel Moor

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 225 314 62 130 196 219
Publicly
Reported

(A) Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 12 18 2 4 5 13
Publicly
Reported

(B) Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 49 73 15 32 52 49
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Forecast
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Passenger Transport

Cost per journey
(community transport
journeys)

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3.90 £4.17 £4.25 £4.05 £3.86 £4.00
Publicly
Reported

Number of bus services in
receipt of subsidy

Plan is Best Year to Date 103 104 103 103 104 105
Publicly
Reported

Number of community
transport bus journeys

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 30,530 28,725 23,762 24,913 26,167 25,000
Publicly
Reported

Average cost per single
passenger journey on
public transport

Smaller is
Better

£1.45 £1.44 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Climate Change

Renewable energy
generation (kWh) from the
Council Estate (exc
schools)

Bigger is
Better

 Year to Date 7,271 7,875 9,817 4,014 8,149
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Renewable Energy
Generation from the
Council Estate (exc
schools) % of total energy
consumption

Bigger is
Better

0.03 % 0.02 % 0.01 % 0.03 % 0.04 %
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Overall Council Carbon
Emission, buildings &
transport (excluding
schools) Tonnes of CO2

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 4,672 8,284 12,047 1,785 3,285 4,436
Ahead of target performance due to the ongoing LED
street lighting works, improvements to Shire Hall and the
use of pool cars

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Waste

Cost to dispose of landfill waste per
household (£s per annum)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast £55 £55 £54 £54 £54
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling and composting

Bigger is
Better

Forecast 54.73 % 54.45 % 54.33 % 54.25 % 54.61 % 54.00 % As of Q3, this also includes wood recovery
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of municipal waste
landfilled.

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 47.20 % 45.41 % 46.06 % 46.41 % 46.60 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Residual household waste per household
(kgs)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 454 457 470 457 454 467
Publicly
Reported

Overall residual waste arisings (except
HRC's) Tonnes

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 116,058 117,230 118,588 117,692 117,644 120,535
Publicly
Reported

% of household waste sent to landfill
Smaller is
Better

Forecast 45.10 % 45.20 % 46.00 % 46.00 % 45.39 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Forecast  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q3)

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Comments Q3 2018/19

Yearly Trend Analysis  Forecast Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2017/18

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Target
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Comments 2018/19

4

P
age 34

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Environment & Planning
                   Cllr Nigel Moor

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 225 314 62 130 196 219
Publicly
Reported

(A) Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 12 18 2 4 5 13
Publicly
Reported

(B) Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 49 73 15 32 52 49
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Forecast
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Passenger Transport

Cost per journey
(community transport
journeys)

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£3.90 £4.17 £4.25 £4.05 £3.86 £4.00
Publicly
Reported

Number of bus services in
receipt of subsidy

Plan is Best Year to Date 103 104 103 103 104 105
Publicly
Reported

Number of community
transport bus journeys

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 30,530 28,725 23,762 24,913 26,167 25,000
Publicly
Reported

Average cost per single
passenger journey on
public transport

Smaller is
Better

£1.45 £1.44 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Climate Change

Renewable energy
generation (kWh) from the
Council Estate (exc
schools)

Bigger is
Better

 Year to Date 7,271 7,875 9,817 4,014 8,149
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Renewable Energy
Generation from the
Council Estate (exc
schools) % of total energy
consumption

Bigger is
Better

0.03 % 0.02 % 0.01 % 0.03 % 0.04 %
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Overall Council Carbon
Emission, buildings &
transport (excluding
schools) Tonnes of CO2

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 4,672 8,284 12,047 1,785 3,285 4,436
Ahead of target performance due to the ongoing LED
street lighting works, improvements to Shire Hall and the
use of pool cars

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Comments Qtr Sep18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep17 Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18
Target Qtr
Sep18

Comments Qtr Sep18

Waste

Cost to dispose of landfill waste per
household (£s per annum)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast £55 £55 £54 £54 £54
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling and composting

Bigger is
Better

Forecast 54.73 % 54.45 % 54.33 % 54.25 % 54.61 % 54.00 % As of Q3, this also includes wood recovery
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of municipal waste
landfilled.

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 47.20 % 45.41 % 46.06 % 46.41 % 46.60 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Residual household waste per household
(kgs)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 454 457 470 457 454 467
Publicly
Reported

Overall residual waste arisings (except
HRC's) Tonnes

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 116,058 117,230 118,588 117,692 117,644 120,535
Publicly
Reported

% of household waste sent to landfill
Smaller is
Better

Forecast 45.10 % 45.20 % 46.00 % 46.00 % 45.39 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Forecast  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q3)

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Comments Q3 2018/19

Yearly Trend Analysis  Forecast Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2017/18

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Target
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Comments 2018/19

5

P
age 35

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col8')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
                   Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

254 338 77 141 209 225

The same comment as last quarter applies.

The number of complaints about scams and doorstep
crime is dependent on referrals from other sources such as
Citizens' Advice Consumer Helpline, Police, and other
GCC Services. 

We continue to promote the work of this Service with
partner agencies in order to maintain level of activity in
this area as it is a key priority for Trading Standards. 

We will review the manner in which referrals from external
sources are recorded to ensure data is captured correctly.

Quarterly targets are based on maintaining levels from last
year and will be 85, 170, 255 and 340 this will also be
reviewed at year end.

Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 1,909 2,342 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,750

Safe and Well visits continue to be our focus for
Prevention work across the County due to the wrap around
benefits to the community. In Q3 we have seen a steady
progression of S&W undertaken. Our target of 10,000
continues to be a stretch but we are above the position we
were at this point in 201718. We have completed 6,033
compared to this time last year 5,303 an increase of 13%.

In Q4 we have set Station staff and Community Safety
Advisors a target to complete a further 2,250 looking at
time available and finance through on and off duty
delivery. This will see us deliver over 8,300 in 201819
which will be an increase of 16% on 201718.

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

81.3 % 76.9 % 80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 80.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

71.0 % 82.0 % 76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 83 73 67 78 94 79

Accidental Dwelling fires (ADF's) continue to be an issue
and work is ongoing to develop a more robust strategy to
assist early understanding of the increase. Q3 has seen 15
above our target but has risen less than in Q2. Our overall
figure sits at 239 which is 44 above the target of 195 an
increase of 22% to date. We will work to reduce this in Q4.

We have continued to evaluate incidents data to
understand trends. Information shows that as Q2 these fires
were either cooking or electrical related.

We will continue to develop social media campaigns
around these types of fires, whilst ensuring that our Safe
and Well visits highlight these areas as the main causes of
ADF's

Publicly
Reported

Number of Deliberate
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 5 5 2 3 5 5
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

6

P
age 36

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
                   Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

254 338 77 141 209 225

The same comment as last quarter applies.

The number of complaints about scams and doorstep
crime is dependent on referrals from other sources such as
Citizens' Advice Consumer Helpline, Police, and other
GCC Services. 

We continue to promote the work of this Service with
partner agencies in order to maintain level of activity in
this area as it is a key priority for Trading Standards. 

We will review the manner in which referrals from external
sources are recorded to ensure data is captured correctly.

Quarterly targets are based on maintaining levels from last
year and will be 85, 170, 255 and 340 this will also be
reviewed at year end.

Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 1,909 2,342 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,750

Safe and Well visits continue to be our focus for
Prevention work across the County due to the wrap around
benefits to the community. In Q3 we have seen a steady
progression of S&W undertaken. Our target of 10,000
continues to be a stretch but we are above the position we
were at this point in 201718. We have completed 6,033
compared to this time last year 5,303 an increase of 13%.

In Q4 we have set Station staff and Community Safety
Advisors a target to complete a further 2,250 looking at
time available and finance through on and off duty
delivery. This will see us deliver over 8,300 in 201819
which will be an increase of 16% on 201718.

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

81.3 % 76.9 % 80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 80.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

71.0 % 82.0 % 76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 83 73 67 78 94 79

Accidental Dwelling fires (ADF's) continue to be an issue
and work is ongoing to develop a more robust strategy to
assist early understanding of the increase. Q3 has seen 15
above our target but has risen less than in Q2. Our overall
figure sits at 239 which is 44 above the target of 195 an
increase of 22% to date. We will work to reduce this in Q4.

We have continued to evaluate incidents data to
understand trends. Information shows that as Q2 these fires
were either cooking or electrical related.

We will continue to develop social media campaigns
around these types of fires, whilst ensuring that our Safe
and Well visits highlight these areas as the main causes of
ADF's

Publicly
Reported

Number of Deliberate
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 5 5 2 3 5 5
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

7

P
age 37

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR4.1
Failure to deliver expected benefits/outcomes from the Residual
waste project impacting on future budgets and the
environment.

Chick, Colin High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Regular contract management meetings with the
provider to monitor progress. Regular liaison with
district councils to help ensure a smooth contract
mobilisation. New contract monitoring role to be
recruited (subject to approval) to help manage the
contract performance management framework.
Internal finance business partner support in place to
support budget management.

SR9.1
Failure to deliver outcomes of the PREVENT Strategy impacting
on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire

Hermiston,
Andy

High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system to
ensure agencies effectively understand and prioritise
local threats and vulnerabilities and agree courses of
action as required by: •         Annual Training  and
SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps •        
Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident or event external to the council that results in
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within
required timescales.

Hermiston,
Andy

High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

The LRF continues to meet regularly to prepare for
emergencies and run joint exercises and share
learning.  Although there are increasing pressures on
all agencies the relationships between key staff
established through the LRF remain strong.

SR10.3
Implications of the Policing and Crime Bill impacting on the Fire
& Rescue Service and County Council

Hermiston,
Andy

High 15 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In December 2017 the OPCC consulted on a business
case for change in relation to the governance of the
Fire and Rescue Service.  The business case is due to
be submitted to the Secretary of State in February
2019 and this may change the risk to high.

SR12.1

Failure of the Council/Gloucestershire to adapt to a more
volatile climate, with rising temperatures, continually high and
increasing energy prices and the increasing need to reduce
carbon emissions.

Chick, Colin High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Pete Wiggins
In summary for Q2 (reported in arrears):
 GCC corporate emissions remain significantly ahead
of target, due to the ongoing LED street lighting
works. improvements to Shire Hall and the trial of
pool cars.
 Renewable energy generation on the Council's
estate remains limited.  Options for further investment
are being investigated.

The Council will host a climate change symposium by
the end of Mar 2019, to review the Council's ambition
and the effectiveness of its policies in delivering
sustainable development in Gloucestershire, with the
ambition for Gloucestershire to be carbon neutral by
2050.

GCC continues to be a member of Defra's Local
Advisory Adaptation Panel (LAAP), which is looking at
how to encourage local authorities to take action,
together with what a 'good' local authority looks like.

Strategic Risk 4: Waste Management

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar18

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar18

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar18

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 12: Climate Change

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar18

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

8

P
age 38

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col11')


Environment & Communities Scrutiny Scorecard

Quarter 4 2018/19

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page no.
Key to Symbols 2
Highways & Flood 3
Planning & Infrastructure & Waste 4
Public Protection, Parking & Libraries 6
Strategic Risk Register Summary 7

1

P
age 39

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,896,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4)

4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3)

3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1)

1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 40



Highways & Flood
Cllr Vernon Smith

Highways & Floods

28 day defects repaired or
made safe  overall %
repaired in time (other
defects)

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

77.8 % 98.0 % 98.8 % 99.5 % 99.5 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% delivery of the annual
gulley emptying
programme

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

113.0 % 36.0 % 67.0 % 70.0 % 99.0 % 100.0 %
Publicly
Reported

% of Sustainable Urban
Drainage responses made
to Local Planning
Authorities within 21 days

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

93.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 94.0 % 100.0 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

3

P
age 41

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Environment & Planning
                   Cllr Nigel Moor

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 314 62 130 203 282 297
Publicly
Reported

(A) Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 18 2 4 6 8 19
Publicly
Reported

(B) Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 73 15 32 52 69 67
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Forecast
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Passenger Transport

Cost per journey
(community transport
journeys)

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.17 £4.25 £4.05 £3.86 £4.29 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Number of bus services in
receipt of subsidy

Plan is Best Year to Date 104 103 103 104 104 105
Publicly
Reported

Number of community
transport bus journeys

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 28,725 23,762 24,913 26,167 29,109 25,000
Publicly
Reported

Average cost per single
passenger journey on
public transport

Smaller is
Better

£1.44 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Climate Change

Renewable energy
generation (kWh) from the
Council Estate (exc
schools)

Bigger is
Better

 Year to Date 7,875 9,817 4,014 8,149 9,294
Publicly
Reported

Renewable Energy
Generation from the
Council Estate (exc
schools) % of total energy
consumption

Bigger is
Better

0.02 % 0.01 % 0.03 % 0.04 % 0.02 %
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Overall Council Carbon
Emission, buildings &
transport (excluding
schools) Tonnes of CO2

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 8,284 12,047 1,785 3,285 5,938 7,915
Ahead of target performance due to the ongoing LED
street lighting works, improvements to Shire Hall and the
use of pool cars

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Waste

Cost to dispose of landfill waste per
household (£s per annum)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast £55 £55 £54 £54 £54
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling and composting

Bigger is
Better

Forecast 54.73 % 54.45 % 54.33 % 54.25 % 54.61 % 54.00 % As of Q3, this also includes wood recovery
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of municipal waste
landfilled.

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 47.20 % 45.41 % 46.06 % 46.41 % 46.60 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Residual household waste per household
(kgs)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 454 457 470 457 454 467
Publicly
Reported

Overall residual waste arisings (except
HRC's) Tonnes

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 116,058 117,230 118,588 117,692 117,644 120,535
Publicly
Reported

% of household waste sent to landfill
Smaller is
Better

Forecast 45.10 % 45.20 % 46.00 % 46.00 % 45.39 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Forecast  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q3)

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Comments Q3 2018/19

Yearly Trend Analysis  Forecast Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2017/18

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Target
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Comments 2018/19

4

P
age 42

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Environment & Planning
                   Cllr Nigel Moor

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 314 62 130 203 282 297
Publicly
Reported

(A) Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 18 2 4 6 8 19
Publicly
Reported

(B) Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 73 15 32 52 69 67
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Forecast
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Passenger Transport

Cost per journey
(community transport
journeys)

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

£4.17 £4.25 £4.05 £3.86 £4.29 £4.30
Publicly
Reported

Number of bus services in
receipt of subsidy

Plan is Best Year to Date 104 103 103 104 104 105
Publicly
Reported

Number of community
transport bus journeys

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 28,725 23,762 24,913 26,167 29,109 25,000
Publicly
Reported

Average cost per single
passenger journey on
public transport

Smaller is
Better

£1.44 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45 £1.45
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Climate Change

Renewable energy
generation (kWh) from the
Council Estate (exc
schools)

Bigger is
Better

 Year to Date 7,875 9,817 4,014 8,149 9,294
Publicly
Reported

Renewable Energy
Generation from the
Council Estate (exc
schools) % of total energy
consumption

Bigger is
Better

0.02 % 0.01 % 0.03 % 0.04 % 0.02 %
Generation from solar PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire
Station. Opportunities for increasing generation on the estate are being
investigated.  Shire Hall refurbishment will include solar PV.

Publicly
Reported

Overall Council Carbon
Emission, buildings &
transport (excluding
schools) Tonnes of CO2

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 8,284 12,047 1,785 3,285 5,938 7,915
Ahead of target performance due to the ongoing LED
street lighting works, improvements to Shire Hall and the
use of pool cars

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Comments Qtr Dec18

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18
Target Qtr
Dec18

Comments Qtr Dec18

Waste

Cost to dispose of landfill waste per
household (£s per annum)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast £55 £55 £54 £54 £54
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling and composting

Bigger is
Better

Forecast 54.73 % 54.45 % 54.33 % 54.25 % 54.61 % 54.00 % As of Q3, this also includes wood recovery
Publicly
Reported

Percentage of municipal waste
landfilled.

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 47.20 % 45.41 % 46.06 % 46.41 % 46.60 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Residual household waste per household
(kgs)

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 454 457 470 457 454 467
Publicly
Reported

Overall residual waste arisings (except
HRC's) Tonnes

Smaller is
Better

Forecast 116,058 117,230 118,588 117,692 117,644 120,535
Publicly
Reported

% of household waste sent to landfill
Smaller is
Better

Forecast 45.10 % 45.20 % 46.00 % 46.00 % 45.39 % 46.00 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Forecast  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Forecast
Outturn
2017/18 (Q3)

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Comments Q3 2018/19

Yearly Trend Analysis  Forecast Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2017/18

Outturn
2017/18

Q1 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q2 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Forecast
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Target
Outturn
2018/19

Q3 Comments 2018/19

5

P
age 43

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col8')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
                   Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

338 77 141 209 304 340

The number of complaints (reports)  received which
identify scams or door step crime incidents against
vulnerable people is outside the direct control of Trading
Standards, it relies entirely on partners such as the
national consumer helpline, the Police, and adult
safeguarding referring matters to Trading Standards.  We
have worked to raise awareness with partners and although
the number of referrals fell short of the annual target
(projected from last year's figures) the final quarter saw 95
referrals which exceeded the quarterly target of 85.

Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 2,342 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,025 2,750

In Q4 we have seen a drop off of the quantity of visits, this
is two fold, one, is around the Service refocus on training
and Firefighter Safety the second is the time that each full
S&W takes when we now incorporate all the elements of
wellbeing. The target for the year was a stretch but we
are encouraged by the increase since 201718 (7645) . 
The year end figure shows a 5% increase (8058) with 78%
of these visits being to the most vulnerable within
Gloucestershire.

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

76.9 % 80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 93.0 % 80.0 %

This is excellent response above 90% with the target at
80%, this shows good planning and management of staff
numbers to ensure that the right appliances are in the right
place at the right time to ensure that the response time is
as short as possible in our category 1 areas.

Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

82.0 % 76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 78.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 73 67 78 94 64 70

Q4 has seen a dramatic reduction following an increase in
Q3 (up +19%) for accidental dwelling fires (Q4 Down
8.5%).  ADF's are those that have the biggest potential for
injury or death, therefore this low number shows, in part,
that the targeted approach to GFRS's prevention activity is
starting to see results. We need to continue to reduce
ADF's as we move into the new year targets.

Publicly
Reported

Number of Deliberate
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 5 2 3 5 3 4

This is a good quarter as a low target of only 4 highlights
this is rare and therefore to only have 3 in 3 months shows
the excellent work that Prevention activity in GFRS is
having within our communities.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

6

P
age 44

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
                   Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

Number of
complaints/reports of scam
activity against vulnerable
individuals (includes
doorstep crime)

Bigger is
Better

338 77 141 209 304 340

The number of complaints (reports)  received which
identify scams or door step crime incidents against
vulnerable people is outside the direct control of Trading
Standards, it relies entirely on partners such as the
national consumer helpline, the Police, and adult
safeguarding referring matters to Trading Standards.  We
have worked to raise awareness with partners and although
the number of referrals fell short of the annual target
(projected from last year's figures) the final quarter saw 95
referrals which exceeded the quarterly target of 85.

Publicly
Reported

% of complaints/reports of
scam activity against
vulnerable individuals
where there is a trader
present or immediate risk
of additional loss
responded to within 1
working day

Bigger is
Better

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 95.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 2,342 2,259 2,023 1,751 2,025 2,750

In Q4 we have seen a drop off of the quantity of visits, this
is two fold, one, is around the Service refocus on training
and Firefighter Safety the second is the time that each full
S&W takes when we now incorporate all the elements of
wellbeing. The target for the year was a stretch but we
are encouraged by the increase since 201718 (7645) . 
The year end figure shows a 5% increase (8058) with 78%
of these visits being to the most vulnerable within
Gloucestershire.

Publicly
Reported

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

76.9 % 80.0 % 92.9 % 92.9 % 93.0 % 80.0 %

This is excellent response above 90% with the target at
80%, this shows good planning and management of staff
numbers to ensure that the right appliances are in the right
place at the right time to ensure that the response time is
as short as possible in our category 1 areas.

Publicly
Reported

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

82.0 % 76.0 % 80.0 % 77.0 % 78.0 % 75.0 %
Publicly
Reported

Number of Accidental
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 73 67 78 94 64 70

Q4 has seen a dramatic reduction following an increase in
Q3 (up +19%) for accidental dwelling fires (Q4 Down
8.5%).  ADF's are those that have the biggest potential for
injury or death, therefore this low number shows, in part,
that the targeted approach to GFRS's prevention activity is
starting to see results. We need to continue to reduce
ADF's as we move into the new year targets.

Publicly
Reported

Number of Deliberate
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 5 2 3 5 3 4

This is a good quarter as a low target of only 4 highlights
this is rare and therefore to only have 3 in 3 months shows
the excellent work that Prevention activity in GFRS is
having within our communities.

Publicly
Reported

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar18 Qtr Jun18 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19
Target Qtr
Mar19

Comments Qtr Mar19

7

P
age 45

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR4.1
Failure to deliver expected benefits/outcomes from the Residual
waste project impacting on future budgets and the
environment.

Chick, Colin High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

SR9.1
Failure to deliver outcomes of the PREVENT Strategy impacting
on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire

Hermiston,
Andy

High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

Gloucestershire PREVENT Partnership Board meet
quarterly.  This complements the Counter Terrorism
Local Profile and the recent national referral system to
ensure agencies effectively understand and prioritise
local threats and vulnerabilities and agree courses of
action as required by: •         Annual Training  and
SelfAssessment survey to identify gaps •        
Monitoring agencies PREVENT activity Running
awareness workshops and training sessions for all
agency members to: •         ensure understanding of
the risk of radicalisation •         embedded in the day
to day safeguarding work within their agency,
educational institution or body

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident or event external to the council that results in
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within
required timescales.

Hermiston,
Andy

High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

The LRF continues to meet regularly to prepare for
emergencies and run joint exercises and share
learning.  Although there are increasing pressures on
all agencies the relationships between key staff
established through the LRF remain strong.

SR10.3
Implications of the Policing and Crime Bill impacting on the Fire
& Rescue Service and County Council

Hermiston,
Andy

High 15 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In February 2019 the OPCC submitted a business case
to the Secretary of State for change in relation to the
governance of the Fire and Rescue Service in
Gloucestershire.  GCC has now submitted its response
to the business case opposing the PCC's proposals on
the grounds that it will impact public safety, reduce
the level of funding available to the Service and
minimise public scrutiny of decisions.

SR12.1

Failure of the Council/Gloucestershire to adapt to a more
volatile climate, with rising temperatures, continually high and
increasing energy prices and the increasing need to reduce
carbon emissions.

Chick, Colin High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

In summary for Q3 (reported in arrears):
 GCC corporate emissions remain significantly ahead
of target, due to the ongoing LED street lighting
works. improvements to Shire Hall and the trial of
pool cars.
 Renewable energy generation on the Council's
estate remains limited.  Options for further investment
are being investigated.

The Council will host a climate change summit jointly
with Gfirst Local Enterprise Partnership in May 2019,
to review the Council's ambition and the effectiveness
of its policies in delivering sustainable development in
Gloucestershire, with the ambition for Gloucestershire
to be carbon neutral by 2050.

GCC continues to be a member of Defra's Local
Advisory Adaptation Panel (LAAP), which is looking at
how to encourage local authorities to take action,
together with what a 'good' local authority looks like.

Strategic Risk 4: Waste Management

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 12: Climate Change

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun18

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep18

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec18

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

8

P
age 46

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col11')


ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2019-20

22 May 2019 17 July 2019 18 September 2019 26 November 2019

Quarter 3 2018/19
Performance Report

Quarter 4 2018/19
Performance Report

Long-term review of local transport 
plan

Long-term review of local transport 
plan [postponed]

Making Gloucestershire’s 
countryside safe and accessible 

(Motion 828)

Update on Biodiversity Task Group

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7



FUTURE ITEMS

1 Lengthsmen Scheme – To consider the 
effectiveness of the Scheme

6 months 
post April 
2019

8 Infrastructure South – including the third river 
crossing

2 Footways (in relation to Motion 787: 
Pavements) – to be revisited early 2019

6 months 
post April 
2019

9 Infrastructure Planning

3 Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health 
Task Group – To receive an update on progress 
with recommendations – early 2019

Members 
sent update 
report

10 The increase in costs of re-tendering public 
transport services

4 Ringway mobilisation – How the new term 
maintenance contract is going

8 months 
after April 
2019

11 Climate change reduction pledge

5 Cotswold National Park Status – To receive an 
update on the review of the proposal

On hold 
until after 
Glover 
review

12 Visit to Javelin Park Separate to 
Committee 
meetings

6 DMMO – To receive a report from the outreach 
post holder regarding application demand

6 months 
after budget 
2019

13 Cabinet feedback on the Biodiversity Task 
Group report

7 Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport 14 The Climate Change Summit

P
age 48


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Motion 828: Making Gloucestershire's Countryside Safe And Accessible
	5 Biodiversity Task Group Update
	6 Director's Report, Communities & Infrastructure
	Environment  Communities Scrutiny Q3 21.2.19
	Enviro and Communities Scrutiny scorecard Q4 2018 19

	7 Work Plan

